RECEIVED

Dec 01 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM WILLIAMSBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge
Case No.: 2014-CP-45-00132

Case No.: 2021-000835

South Carolina Farm Bureau Ins. Co., Plaintiff,

v.

Marion L. Driggers, Shiralee Driggers, Tammy D. Floyd, Arthur McKenzie, a/k/a Arthur McKenzie, The Travelers Home and Marine Insurance Company, The United States of America acting by and through its agency, The Internal Revenue Service and The South Carolina Tax Commission, Defendants,

of whom Marion L. Driggers is the Appellant and The Travelers Home and Marine Insurance Company is the Respondent.

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from Williamsburg County, Court of Common Pleas, of two Orders issued by the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, which were entered on March 4, 2021 and March 30, 2021, whereby the Court granted Motions for Summary Judgment previously filed by Defendant-Respondent Travelers Home and Marine Insurance Company ("Travelers"), and a third Order entered on April 19, 2021, which granted Traveler's claim for Interpleader in the Court below.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the lower court err in granting summary judgment where (a) discovery had not been completed, and (b) additional inquiry into the facts of this case is necessary before any claims of Appellant/Defendant Marion L. Driggers may be disposed of as a matter of law?
- II. Did the Williamsburg County Court of Common Pleas commit reversible error by granting Interpleader "by consent," effectively releasing the Defendant Travelers Home and Marine Insurance Company from further liability from all claims, where the record reflects that all Parties did not consent to such release of Travelers?
- III. Are there Genuine Issues of Material fact such that Summary Judgment and Interpleader to Travelers should have been denied?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a suit filed in Williamsburg County, Court of Common Pleas, by South Carolina Farm Bureau Insurance Company, on or about March 7, 2014. The case was brought against Marion L. Driggers, Shiralee Driggers, Tammy D. Floyd, the Estate of Arthur McKenzie, The Travelers Home and Marine Insurance Company, the United States of America acting by and through its agent, The Internal Revenue Service, and The South Carolina Tax Commission. The case, primarily a declaratory judgment action, arises from the fire damage and loss to a house located in Williamsburg County, that was insured by two different insurance policies, issued by two different insurance companies, to two different named insureds, on the same property. The declaratory judgment action includes causes of action for Declaratory Judgment, Misrepresentation, Breach of Contract, and Equitable Indemnity. South Carolina Farm Bureau's Complaint seeks (a) a determination of the insured value of the property in question at the time of loss, (b) the ownership or distribution of the insurable interests in the property at the time of such loss, and (c) the amount due under each insurance policy, and to whom, as a result of such loss. South Carolina Farm Bureau, argued that it was not liable for a claim submitted by its insured, Marion L. Driggers, as the policy proceeds paid by Travelers to Defendant Arthur McKenzie already exceeded the value of the property in question. (R. pp. 23-24) Defendants Marion L. Driggers, Shiralee Driggers and Tammy D. Floyd answered the complaint on April 8, 2014, asserting counterclaims against Arthur McKenzie and Travelers and arguing that McKenzie did not have an insurable interest in the property due to his violation of a lease-purchase agreement between the parties, and that Travelers and

McKenzie conspired to avoid payment of viable claims by the remaining defendants and failed to appropriately investigate this claim. (R. pp. 33-35) After the Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint on July 13, 2016, Defendant Travelers filed an Answer, that contained a counterclaim for Interpleader and contribution, which acknowledged that it denied the claim of Marion Driggers and that Defendant Driggers had a policy of insurance with Farm Bureau for the same property. (R. pp. 176, 180-182) After hearing various motions filed by the parties for Summary Judgment, along with the Travelers Motion for Interpleader, the Court granted the Travelers Motion for Summary Judgment. The lower court issued Orders on March 4, 2021 and March 31, 2021 granting summary judgment and an Order on April 19, 2021 dismissing Travelers from this action.

Appellant, Marion L. Driggers appeals to this Court the following Orders issued by the lower court:

- (1) March 4, 2021 Order granting Summary Judgment to Travelers on Civil Conspiracy, Breach of Contract, and Bad Faith, reconsideration denied on June 25, 2021; and
- (2) March 30, 2021 Order granting Summary Judgment to Travelers on Equitable Estoppel, reconsideration denied on April 12, 2021; and
- (3) April 19, 2021 granting Travelers Interpleader, and otherwise dismissing Travelers from the action.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court shall apply the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and

the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Laurens Emergency Med. Specialists v. M.S. Bailey & Sons Bankers, 355 S.C. 104, 584 S.E.2d 375 (2003); Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 567 S.E.2d 857 (2002); Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 582 S.E.2d 432 (Ct. App. 2003); Redwend Ltd. Pship v. Edwards, 354 S.C. 459, 581 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2003). In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Sauner v. Public Serv. Auth., 354 S.C. 397, 581 S.E.2d 161 (2003); Hendricks v. Clemson Univ., 353 S.C. 449, 578 S.E.2d 711 (2003); McNair v. Rainsford, 330 S.C. 332, 499 S.E.2d 488 (Ct. App. 1998); see also Laurens Emergency Med. Specialists, 355 S.C. at 108, 584 S.E.2d at 377 (stating that in reviewing summary judgment motion, facts and circumstances must be viewed in light most favorable to non-moving party). If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury. Baril v. Aiken Regl Med. Ctrs., 352 S.C. 271, 573 S.E.2d 830 (Ct. App. 2002); Young v. South Carolina Dept of Corrections, 333 S.C. 714, 511 S.E.2d 413 (Ct. App. 1999).

Summary judgment is appropriate where the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A., 353 S.C. 208, 578 S.E.2d 329 (2003); Regions Bank, 354 S.C. at 659, 582 S.E.2d at 438; Rule 56(c), SCRPC. All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party. Bayle v. South Carolina Dept of Transp., 344 S.C. 115, 542 S.E.2d 736 (Ct. App. 2001); see also Ferguson v. Charleston Lincoln Mercury, Inc., 349 S.C. 558, 563, 564 S.E.2d 94, 96 (2002) (On appeal from an order

granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.).

Under Rule 56(c), SCRCP, the party seeking summary judgment has the initial burden of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Regions Bank, 354 S.C. at 659, 582 S.E.2d at 438; Trivelas v. South Carolina Dept of Transp., 348 S.C. 125, 558 S.E.2d 271 (Ct. App. 2001). Once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponents case, the opponent cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings. Regions Bank, 354 S.C. at 660, 582 S.E.2d at 438. Rather, the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. SSI Med. Servs., Inc. v. Cox, 301 S.C. 493, 392 S.E.2d 789 (1990); Peterson v. West American Ins. Co., 336 S.C. 89, 518 S.E.2d 608 (Ct. App. 1999); Rule 56(c), SCRCP. The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder. Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 580 S.E.2d 433 (2003); George v. Fabri, 345 S.C. 440, 548 S.E.2d 868 (2001).

FACTS OF THE CASE

On or about April 25, 1997, Lisa Gamble and Tammy Floyd entered into a "Lease to Own Agreement" for 200 W. Highway 378 Bypass, Lake City, South Carolina (the "Property"). (R. pp. 1-2) The lease-purchase contract included an insurance clause, whereby the tenant/buyer was required to name the owner of the property as an additional insured on a policy of insurance. The agreement further stipulated that the tenant/buyer, Ms. Gamble, had "no equity" in the property until the final installment

payment was made. Ms. Gamble thereafter assigned her rights in the agreement to Arthur McKenzie on October 13, 2006, which assignment was recorded on January 5, 2009. Marion L. Driggers was concerned that Mr. McKenzie might not abide by the insurance requirement in the Agreement and purchased a policy of insurance with South Carolina Farm Bureau Insurance Company in order to protect his interests in the property.

In or around May of 2009 Arthur McKenzie purchased homeowners insurance through Travelers Home and Marine Insurance Company and on November 26, 2009 the home was destroyed by fire. (R. pp. 646-647) Mr. McKenzie filed a claim with Travelers for damage to the house and personal property. (R. p. 558) Thereafter, in April of 2010 Mr. McKenzie stopped making payments under the lease to own agreement and was considered in default under the agreement. He was subsequently evicted through an Order of Default and Order of Ejectment issued on March 6, 2013. (R. p. 559-560)

Prior to the eviction proceeding, Marion L. Driggers filed an insurance claim with South Carolina Farm Bureau Insurance Company. South Carolina Farm Bureau filed a complaint on March 6, 2014 and Mr. Driggers filed a crossclaim against Arthur McKenzie for breach of contract and quiet title and against Travelers Home and Marine Insurance Company for breach of contract, conspiracy and bad faith. Throughout the lengthy litigation in this matter the lower court granted Traveler's Interpleader, denied Marion Drigger's motion to amend his answer to include counterclaims and cross claims against Travelers. Travelers' motions for summary judgment in connection with the cross claims of Shiralee Driggers, Tammy Floyd and Marion L. Driggers were

granted and Defendant Marion L. Driggers filed a motion for reconsideration on March 17, 2021. The lower court thereafter issued an order on April 19, 2021, granting Travelers' claim for Interpleader and dismissing Travelers from the action.

For additional treatment of the facts of this case in greater detail, this Appellant also adopts the Statement of Facts as set forth by the Appellant South Carolina Farm Bureau in their Brief on Appeal.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The Trial Court erred by granting summary judgment where (a) discovery has not been completed, and (b) additional inquiry into the facts of this case is necessary before any claims of Appellant/Defendant Marion L. Driggers may be summarily disposed of.**

It is well-settled law that summary judgment is a drastic remedy that should not be granted unless and until all parties have had a full and fair opportunity to conduct and complete their discovery. *See, e.g., Cunningham v. Anderson County*, 402 S.C. 434, 741 S.E.2d 545 (S.C. App. 2013), *reh'g denied, affirmed in part, reversed in part*, 515 S.C. 298, 778 S.E.2d 884. Appellant Marion Driggers would also draw the Court's attention to the case of Lanham v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield, wherein the S.C. Supreme Court held that it was improper to grant summary judgment to a health insurer, where the insurer had canceled a policy based on an alleged misrepresentation in the application, but where discovery as to the insurer's underwriting standards and policies had not been completed, and the insured's motions to compel discovery of documents containing the insurer's standards and policies had not been completed. Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C., Inc., 349 S.C. 356, 563 S.E.2d 331 (S.C. 2002).

Here, the trial court below seemed to focus on the age of the case in granting summary judgment to Travelers. However, the Court does not seem to have adequately considered the numerous factors contributing to the age of the case, including the death of Mr. McKenzie, which required an Estate to be opened and a Personal Representative to be appointed, further delays caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, numerous changes in counsel for the various parties throughout the course of these proceedings, as well as the delays caused by the involvement of a *pro se* litigant, Marion L. Driggers, in the proceedings below. Moreover, the concerns of the trial court regarding the length of time the case has been pending should not foreclose the clear need to plumb all material issues and claims before granting summary judgment to a party.

Significantly in this case, Marion L. Driggers, along with Shiralee Driggers and Tammy Floyd, have asserted a cross-claim to quiet title in the subject property, due to Mr. McKenzie's alleged breach, and the subsequent termination of the "rent to own" agreement dated April 25, 1997. For the reasons discussed in the hearings below, discovery on this issue, as with other issues before the lower court, has not been completed. (R. pp. 428, 430-431, 437, 440, 443-444) However, the question of McKenzie's equity interest is a fundamental and threshold issue; if Mr. McKenzie had no equity interest in the property, the Traveler's payments to him in December of 2020 were improper, as Mr. McKenzie would have had as a result, no equity interest in the property, and the payments to him would have been invalid, both as a matter of South Carolina law, and pursuant to the terms of Traveler's own contract with McKenzie. (See S.C. Code Ann. 38-75-20 and 38-75-350, and R. pp. 488, 493 (Traveler's Contract, at p. 14,

¶1 and p. 19), both of which preclude payments of insurance proceeds to any party that does not have an insurable interest in the insured property.) In this case, proper resolution of this narrow question is fundamental to the resolution of the case in its entirety. If the evidence and discovery in this case bear out the conclusion, or the likelihood that a jury may conclude, that Arthur McKenzie had no insurable interest in the real estate at issue in this matter, then a proper resolution of this matter is utterly and fundamentally different from what the Court has ordered in its rulings on the summary judgment motions, and Travelers has paid out to its insured, Arthur McKenzie, no less than \$65,630 in benefits that were improper, both under South Carolina law and under the terms of Traveler's own policy¹. If Travelers had not improperly paid out the funds in such manner, and if it is determined, for example, that McKenzie's equity interest in the property has been extinguished, then the proper distribution of insurance proceeds in this case will be almost entirely different from what the trial court below has thus far ruled.

It is well-settled law that summary judgment is appropriate only where parties have had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery, Cunningham, *supra.*, and where further discovery is not needed to clarify the application of law to the facts of a case, Lanham, *supra.* In this case, additional discovery is necessary in order to resolve open questions of material fact which have not yet been fully developed, and in order to clarify the proper application of the law to the complex fact pattern at issue here. For

¹ On or about Dec. 2, 2020, Travelers paid to Arthur McKenzie, through his counsel, the sum of \$115,140.40, of which, \$65,630.03 were paid for losses to the building (other payments being for replacement of personal property (\$44,904.75), and "other expenses" (\$4605.62), respectively.) (R. p. 434; Copy of Payment of Travelers referenced in the February 18, 2021 hearing at page 12.

these reasons, the appealed-from summary judgment rulings were improper, and should be reversed.

II. The lower Court erred by granting Interpleader “by consent,” and releasing the Defendant Travelers Home and Marine Insurance Company from further liability from all claims, where the record reflects that all Parties did not consent to the release of Travelers by such Interpleader.

The January 5, 2021 Order of the Common Pleas Court below granted the motion of Travelers for Interpleader. (R. pp. 225-227) The court states that the motion of Travelers for Interpleader to pay funds into court was granted with the consent of all parties. (R. p. 416) However, the transcript of September 17, 2020 does not contain any testimony indicating that the parties consented to a grant of Interpleader and full release to Travelers. (R. pp. 429, 455) Rather, the parties agreed to allow the substitution of the Estate of Arthur McKenzie for Mr. McKenzie individually, in light of Mr. McKenzie’s passing. (R. p. 376) Defendant-Appellant Driggers specifically asked the Court, at the September 17, 2020 hearing, if Travelers was not going to be released from this lawsuit and the Court confirmed that “[t]hey’re going to pay that money into court” and that no ruling would be made on the motion for summary judgment of Travelers at that time. (R. p. 420) (Emphasis supplied). However, and notwithstanding this exchange with the Parties from the bench and on record, the Court subsequently issued an Order, granting the requested Interpleader, and further providing that “Travelers is hereby dismissed from this action with prejudice.” (R. p. 309)

As the Court has ruled in a manner substantively different from its instructions to the Parties in court, and Defendant-Appellant Driggers has been prejudiced as a result, Defendant-Appellant Driggers believes that the Court’s Order of April 19, 2021,

should be vacated, reversed, and remanded to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with the Court's original ruling from the bench. The record does not support a finding that the Parties "consented" to the dismissal of Travelers from this action with prejudice.

III. There are Genuine Issues of Material Fact that need to be resolved in this case, and those Issues of Material Fact should have precluded the lower Court from granting Summary Judgment in favor of Travelers.

While summary judgment is appropriate where there are plain, palpable, and indisputable facts upon which reasonable minds cannot differ, summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of a case is desirable to clarify the application of the facts to the law. See USAA Property and Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg, 377 S.C. 643, 661 S.E.2d 791 (S.C. 2008)(*reh'g denied*). In cases where a "preponderance of the evidence" standard of proof will apply, as here, the non-moving party is only required to show a mere "scintilla of evidence" to withstand a motion for summary judgment. See, Fountain v. First Reliance Bank, 398 S.C. 434, 730 S.E.2d 305 (S.C. 2012); see also, Greyc v. S.C. Bank & Trust Co., 422 S.C. 509, 812 S.E.2d 750 (S.C. App. 2018).

Here, there are numerous open questions of material fact, for which more than a mere scintilla of evidence exists, which should preclude for numerous reasons the summary judgment rulings in favor of Travelers below. As previously noted, herein above, there are open questions as to whether the Estate of Arthur McKenzie retains an equity (and therefore an insurable) interest in the property sufficient to support and justify the payments already made by Travelers to Mr. McKenzie. The Court's orders and the Travelers' contract with Mr. McKenzie certainly provide more than a scintilla of

evidence that Mr. McKenzie did not have an insurable interest in the property sufficient to support the payments that Travelers has already made to him. (R. p. 493; R. p. 593) On its face, the Travelers contract limits Travelers' insured, Arthur McKenzie, to payments made for his "insurable interest," which in this case appears to be his personal property only. In such instance, payment of Mr. McKenzie's attorneys' fees and other expenses from the Travelers' policy proceeds would have been improper, but there is well more than a scintilla of evidence that such payments were made.

Travelers' insured, Arthur McKenzie, has also acknowledged that Mr. Driggers is a "Mortgagee" on the property in question. (R. p. 460; R. p. 490 section 12) Moreover, the "proof of loss" documentation produced by Travelers in this matter, and dated April 17, 2010, make it very clear that Travelers received actual notice of the Driggers' mortgage interest in the property, no later than that date. (R. p. 558) Call logs produced by the Travelers, dated January 2, 2010, also make clear that Travelers received notification of the Driggers' mortgage on that date, and in their internal file notes from February 28, 2010, Travelers representatives note in the file that the question of ownership of the house is confusing, and there are two large tax liens associated with the property. (R. p. 460)

Further, Travelers' own contract with McKenzie states that "we will pay you unless some other person is legally entitled" to receive such payment. Yet, having all of this information readily at hand, Travelers nonetheless paid out insurance funds to its insured, Arthur McKenzie, in an amount that far exceeds the apparent value of any "insurable interest" (see above), thereby compromising Travelers' ability to pay other,

legitimate claims to the insurance proceeds, to include, without limitation, Marion Driggers' claims to the funds as a mortgagee of the property.

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