**RECEIVED**

**Nov 30 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM WILLIAMSBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis  
Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 2014-CP-45-00132  
(Court of Appeals Case No.: 2021-000835)

---

South Carolina Farm Bureau Ins. Co. . . . . Plaintiff,

v.

Marion L. Driggers, Shiralee Driggers, Tammy D. Floyd, Arthur McKenzie, a/k/a Arther McKenzie, The Travelers Home and Marine Insurance Company, The United States of America acting by and through Its agency, The Internal Revenue Services and The South Carolina Tax Commission, . . . . . Defendants,

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

## ARGUMENT

---

South Carolina Farm Bureau in their Brief on Appeal.” Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 7. Travelers believes this is in reference to a brief by a separate party in an entirely different appeal, Court of Appeals Case No. 2021-000494. Reference to and adoption of a portion of a separate unrelated brief in a different appeal is not appropriate and should be disregarded by the Court. *See* Rule 208(b)(6), SCACR (“In cases involving more than one appellant or respondent, including cases consolidated for appeal, any number of parties may join in a single brief, and any party may adopt by reference all or any part of the brief of another.); *see also* JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 431 (3d ed. 2016) (“Attorneys often have much more information about a case in the record; however, the rules confine appellate review to the record. Rule 210(h), SCACR.”).

**1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING TRAVELERS'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ALL OF APPELLANT'S CROSS-CLAIMS.**

*A. Appellant failed to properly and timely appeal the lower court's March 4, 2021 Order.*

Appellant's first Notice of Appeal filed August 4, 2021 focused entirely on the lower court's decision to grant Travelers summary judgment as to Appellant's cross-claims for civil conspiracy, breach of contract, and bad faith. As an initial matter and pursuant to this Court's directive in its Order filed December 20, 2021,<sup>3</sup> the issue of timeliness must be addressed. The records reveal that Appellant failed to properly and timely appeal the lower court's March 4, 2021 Order granting Travelers's Motion for Summary Judgment on all of Appellant's cross-claims against it.

Pursuant to Rule 203 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, "[a] party intending to appeal **must serve and file a notice of appeal,**" with service upon all respondents required within thirty (30) days of "receipt of written notice of entry of the order." Rule 203, SCACR. The importance of these mandatory separate steps has been set out as follows:

The first step in initiating and perfecting the appeal involves serving and filing the notice of appeal. *See* Rule 203(a), SCACR (providing a party intending to appeal must serve and file a notice of appeal and otherwise follow the SCACR). Of course, serving and filing are two separate acts. *See* Rule 203(b), (d), SCACR (providing a party *serves* the notice of appeal on the respondent(s), and *files* the appeal with the clerk of the appellate court and the clerk of the lower court); *see also* Rule 262, SCACR (defining generally the separate acts of serving and filing in the appellate courts). The appellant should strictly adhere to service and filing requirements, as well as form and content requirements contained in the SCACR.

---

<sup>3</sup> In denying Travelers's Motion to Dismiss the appeal, this Court instructed that "nothing in this order shall prevent the parties from arguing the issue of timeliness in their briefs along with the merits." Order filed December 20, 2021.

The jurisdictional implications of failing to properly and timely serve a Notice of Appeal are significant:

It is critical that the notice be timely served because, unlike the filing of the notice of appeal, the service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional and therefore, the appellate court cannot extend the time for serving the notice of appeal. *See* 263(b), SCACR (“The time prescribed by these Rules for performing any act *except the time for serving the notice of appeal* under Rules 203 and 243 may be extended . . . .” (emphasis added)); *Ex Parte Sadisco of Greenville, Inc. v. Greenville Cnty. Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 340 S.C. 57, 530 S.E.2d 383 (2000) (“This Court has consistently stated that service of the notice of appeal is a jurisdictional requirement, and this Court has no authority to extend or expand the time in which the notice of appeal must be served.”); *see also Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004) (“The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, i.e., if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to ‘rescue’ the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.”); *Mears v. Mears*, 287 S.C. 168, 337 S.E.2d 206 (1985).

*Id.* at 292-93; *see also Conner v. City of Forest Acres*, 348 S.C. 454, 461, 560 S.E.2d 606, 609 (2002) (“Service of the notice of intent to appeal is a jurisdictional requirement, and the Court has no authority to extend or expand the time in which the notice of intent to appeal must be served.”).

Rule 262, SCACR, requires that “[a]ny document filed with the appellate court shall be accompanied by proof of service showing the document has been served on all parties,” via either in-person delivery, U.S. Mail delivery, or electronic service as may be allowed by order of the Supreme Court of South Carolina. Rule 262, SCACR. At the height of Covid-19, the Court “authorize[d] **a lawyer admitted to practice law in this state** to serve a document on another lawyer admitted to practice law in this state using the lawyer’s primary e-mail address listed in the Attorney Information System (AIS),” but no such

permission was provided to non-lawyer, pro se parties. RE: Operation of the Appellate Courts During the Coronavirus Emergency (As Amended May 29, 2020), Appellate Case No. 2020-000447, dated March 20, 2020 (emphasis added). Moreover, the Court made clear that “forgiveness [as to procedural defaults during the height of Covid-19] d[id] not apply to the failure of a party to timely serve the notice of appeal under Rules 203, 243, and 247, SCACR.” *Id.*

Undersigned counsel on behalf of Travelers was not served with Appellant’s August 4, 2021 Notice of Appeal pursuant to the Rules. While this Court found that undersigned received “notice” of the appeal based on an email sent by Appellant to Travelers’s retired counsel, which was enough to prevent a dismissal in December 2021, such “notice” of an appeal does not equate to timely and proper service of process which is required for purposes of invoking the jurisdiction of this Court. Email service by a pro se party is not valid, timely service per the rules of this Court. Appellant sent an email to retired counsel for Travelers, which undersigned counsel happened upon and responded to with regards to her involvement in the matter. No email was ever sent to undersigned counsel’s AIS email pursuant to this Court’s Covid Order (which is not valid service as set forth above), nor was proper mailing apparently undertaken or a proof of service ever provided that showed a proper mode of service per the Rules. Without both timely filing and serving the Notice of Appeal pursuant to this Court’s rules, this appeal is untimely and fails to properly invoke the jurisdiction of the Court.<sup>4</sup>

*B. The lower court’s decision to grant Travelers summary judgment was proper.*

---

<sup>4</sup> By failing to serve a Notice of Appeal within thirty days of the court’s final Order on June 25, 2021 granting summary judgment, such Order became the law of the case. *See Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009).

If this Court deems that pro-se Appellant properly perfected a timely appeal of the lower court's March 4, 2021 Order, which granted Travelers's Motion for Summary Judgment on all of Appellant's cross-claims against it, the lower court's decision to grant Travelers summary judgment as to Appellant's cross-claims for civil conspiracy, bad faith, and breach of contract was proper under South Carolina law and should be upheld.<sup>5</sup>

Appellant's sole argument in his Brief as to why summary judgment should not have been granted as to his cross-claims is that more discovery is needed in this case, which has been pending before the circuit court for eight years. In fact, Appellant goes as far as accusing the lower court of deciding summary judgment based on the age of the case and faults his own previous pro se status as a reason for the advanced age of this action.<sup>6</sup> See Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 8. Yet, not once in his Brief does Appellant provide a genuine

---

<sup>5</sup> Appellant's Motion to Reconsider this March 4, 2021 Order was filed March 17, 2021 and accused Travelers's retired counsel of "distorting the truth," along with other allegations of fraud and forgery. (R. p.00261). Undersigned wishes to point out what this Court is well aware of, which is that Travelers's retired counsel, William P. Davis, was an extremely ethical and upstanding attorney, whose forty years of practice in the state of South Carolina was truly exemplary. The allegations continually made against him during the life of this matter are difficult to fathom. This is even more troubling for undersigned now that Mr. Davis has retired and is unable to defend himself from these continuing accusations by Appellant. Undersigned merely takes this opportunity to state that the allegations that form the basis of Appellant's Motion to Reconsider are entirely unfounded now, as they were when the original Motion was filed.

<sup>6</sup> Appellant cites to *Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C. Inc.*, 338 S.C. 343, 526 S.E.2d 253 (Ct. App. 2000) in support of his discovery argument. Unlike the eight year trajectory seen in this matter, *Lanham* was filed in 1992, but was dismissed with leave to restore in 1994. *See id.* at 346-47, 526 S.E.2d at 254. Once restored in 1995, the defendant insurer ultimately filed for summary judgment on January 21, 1997. *See id.* at 346, 526 S.E.2d at 254. The plaintiff requested discovery for information related to his bad faith/breach of contract claims three days after summary judgment was filed, and the defendant carrier filed a motion to quash with a motion to compel quickly following. *See id.* at 346-47, 526 S.E.2d at 254. Even after renewing the motion to compel at the hearing on defendant's motion for summary judgment, the lower court failed to rule on the discovery matter and instead granted summary judgment to the defendant carrier. *See id.* at 347, 526 S.E.2d at 254-55. This Court found a genuine issue of material fact for jury determination on the issue of intent to deceive and also remanded the case for a decision on the motion to compel. *See id.* at 348-49, 526 S.E.2d at 255-56. Unlike *Lanham*, Appellant's discovery related to his causes of action has been ongoing for eight years. Although Appellant may disagree with discovery decisions made during the course of this action by numerous judges, particularly Justice George C. James, Jr. who undertook a majority of the discovery motions prior to his ascension to the Supreme Court, all discovery motions by Appellant against Travelers have been ruled on and resolved. There are no outstanding discovery motions against Travelers that were ignored by the lower court prior to its summary judgment ruling against Appellant, nor could any additional discovery provide a genuine issue of material fact to support any viable claims, as stated in Appellant's pleadings, against Travelers under South Carolina law.

issue of fact to support a reversal of the lower court's summary judgment ruling on his cross-claims. A general statement that more discovery is needed with regards to McKenzie's interest in the property is not sufficient to overcome the summary judgment ruling at issue. *See Main v. Corley*, 281 S.C. 525, 316 S.E.2d 406 (1984).

The lower court properly found that Appellant did not have legal standing under South Carolina law. (R. pp. 00255-00257). As found by Judge Curtis, Appellant is "not [a] part[y] to the Travelers insurance contract and ha[s] no standing to complain about how the claim of the named insured, Defendant McKenzie, was resolved." (R. p. 00258). In fact, rather than "enforce the provision in the buy and sell agreement that purportedly required that [Appellant's] interests be protected under the policy . . . [he] chose to purchase a policy of [his] own to protect [his] interests" and cannot claim that any contract exists between himself and Travelers for purposes of a breach of contract claim. (R. p. 00258). Since he is not a party to Travelers's insurance contract, Appellant also cannot assert a bad faith claim against Travelers. *See Cock-N-Bull Steak House, Inc. v. Generali Ins. Co.*, 321 S.C. 1, 6, 466 S.E.2d 727, 730 (1996) (quoting *Crossley v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 307 S.C. 354, 359-60, 415 S.E.2d 393, 396-97 (1992) ("The elements of an action for bad faith refusal to pay benefits under an insurance contract include: (1) the existence of a mutually binding contract of insurance between the plaintiff and the defendant; (2) refusal by the insurer to pay benefits due under the contract; (3) resulting from the insurer's bad faith or unreasonable action in breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing arising on the contract; (4) causing damage to the insured.")).<sup>7</sup>

---

<sup>7</sup> Appellant attempts to distinguish *Park v. Safeco Insurance Company of America*, 251 S.C. 410, 162 S.E.2d 709 (1968) to argue against the lower court's determination that he is a stranger to Travelers's contract with McKenzie. The South Carolina Supreme Court has made clear that a mortgagor and mortgagee can have separate and distinct interests in property for purposes of insurance. *See Johnson v. Fidelity & Guaranty Ins.*

Appellant's allegation of civil conspiracy likewise fails as a matter of law. Specifically, civil conspiracy is "(1) a combination of two or more persons, (2) for the purpose of injuring the plaintiff, (3) which causes him special damage." *Lee v. Chesterfield Gen. Hosp, Inc.*, 289 S.C. 6, 10-11, 344 S.E.2d 379, 381-82 (Ct. App. 1986) *overruled by Paradis v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 433 S.C. 562, 861 S.E.2d 774 (2021) (citing *Charles v. Texas Co. (Charles I)*, 192 S.C. 82, 5 S.E.2d 464 (1939)).<sup>8</sup> The lower court properly found that "Travelers's adjustment and resolution of the claim of its insured . . . pursuant to their contract [did not] injure[ Appellant] – let alone that it was done for that purpose." (R. p. 00257). In fact, the Court found that Appellant was a "stranger[] to Travelers contract, a fact of which [he] w[as] very well aware as evidenced by [his] procurement of an insurance contract of [his] own with Plaintiff Farm Bureau." (R. p.

---

*Co.*, 245 S.C. 205, 140 S.E.2d 153 (1965). As such, Appellant's claim to allegedly the same asset and the existence of causes of action against Travelers's insured, Mr. McKenzie, does not make Appellant something other than a stranger to Travelers's policy. The extent of Appellant's, McKenzie's, or anyone else's "insurable interest" in the property is to be argued in relation to the money paid to court by Travelers subject to interpleader. McKenzie's insurable interest in the property, or lack thereof, does not change the fact that Appellant is not a party to Travelers's insurance contract and has no standing to complain about how the claim of the named insured, Arthur McKenzie, was resolved. Appellant's breach of contract and bad faith allegations fail as a matter of law, and he must instead seek to prove the amount of his alleged interest in the property to obtain a portion of the interplead coverage payment that now sits with the lower court for appropriate distribution.

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